1977

Intermountain Farmers Association v. Jim Fitzgerald : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

No Evidence of Harmful Feed Actually Purchased by Defendant

The uncontroverted evidence is that the defendant purchased 14% Dairy Feed from the plaintiff during two periods of time, the first, between February 11, 1971, and January 5, 1972, and the second, between December 28, 1972 and July 26, 1974.

There was no direct evidence by way of chemical test or otherwise that any of the loads of 14% Dairy Feed actually purchased by defendant during the aforesaid periods when his cows were feeding was harmful. During the time periods in question, no tests by the State Chemist were taken of feed sold at the

Spanish Fork branch. During the relevant time periods, only eleven of the 77 tests by the office of the Utah State Chemist finally admitted into evidence were analyses of 14% Dairy Feed samples, all of which were taken at locations other than the Spanish Fork branch of plaintiff.¹⁾ According to both parties' expert witnesses, Drs. Gardner and Huber, none of the chemical tests on 14% dairy feed showed an excess of urea which would cause a loss of milk production, or any other of the symptoms of toxicity complained of by defendant. (Tr. 795,877; Ab. 121,201)

Evidence of Alleged Contamination of 32% Supplement Which Could Have Been Mixed Into Feed Purchased by Defendant

There was no direct evidence that any contaminated 32% supplement or concentrate was in fact mixed into the feed which defendant purchased. Of the total of 77²⁾ chemical tests which were received into evidence, 24 represented test

1) Many tests were taken of samples of plaintiff's feed which were never admitted into evidence. Of the 77 chemical tests admitted into evidence, 26 were tests of 14% Dairy Feed. Those 26 tests may be analyzed as follows:

- . Taken before or after relevant time periods - 15 tests
- . Taken during the relevant time periods - 11 tests
- . Taken at branches of IFA other than Spanish Fork during the relevant time periods - 11 tests; before or after the relevant time periods - 12 tests
- . Taken at Spanish Fork IFA Branch during the relevant time periods - no tests; before or after the relevant time periods - 3 tests
- . Comment made by State Chemist that sample showed an excess of NPN (urea) on tests taken during the relevant time periods - none; on tests taken before or after the relevant time periods - 2 tests (neither of which was taken at Spanish Fork)

2) Many tests were taken of samples of plaintiff's feed supplement which were never admitted into evidence. Of the 77 chemical tests admitted into evidence, 51 were tests of 32% feed supplement. Those 51 tests may be analyzed as follows:

- . Taken before or after relevant time periods - 27 tests
- . Taken during the relevant time periods - 24 tests

samples of 32% supplement taken during the relevant time periods. Further, only two of the tests during the relevant time periods indicated an excess of urea, and those two tests were of samples taken at branches other than Spanish Fork.

Defendant's witness, Dr. Robert Gardner, testified that two of the 24 samples tested during the time periods in question contained sufficient excess urea to cause the type of problems complained of by the defendant. One of those chemical tests, Exhibit 130-D, test report number 9870, was an analysis of 32% dairy concentrate sampled from the St. George branch of IFA on February 18, 1971, seven days after the defendant began using plaintiff's feed. The other test, Exhibit 116-D, was an analysis of 32% cattle supplement sampled from the Draper branch of IFA on July 1974, one day before defendant quit using plaintiff's feed. No testimony or evidence was presented that the concentrate identified in Exhibit 130-D, or the cattle supplement identified in Exhibit 116-D, was in fact used in the preparation at Spanish Fork of any of the feed which the defendant's cows ate.

Evidence of Alleged Contamination of Feed at Other Times and Other Places Which Could Not Have Been Purchased by Defendant

Chemical tests which were taken at branches other than the Spanish Fork branch of IFA, at times both prior and subsequent to the periods when defendant

-
- . Taken at branches of IFA other than Spanish Fork during the relevant time periods - 26 tests; before or after the relevant time periods - 24 tests
 - . Taken at Spanish Fork IFA branch during the relevant time periods - 20 tests; before or after the relevant time periods - 1 test
 - . Comment made by State Chemist that sample showed an excess of NPN (urea) on tests taken during the relevant time periods - 2 tests (neither of which was taken from Spanish Fork); on tests taken before or after the relevant time periods - 4 tests (none of which was taken at Spanish Fork)

cows were feeding on plaintiff's feed, were admitted into evidence over objection of plaintiff's counsel. Counsel for defendant often offered these remote exhibits for the limited purpose of showing alleged knowledge or notice on the part of IFA as related to Count Eight for punitive damages. Tests taken after the periods of feeding which were admitted over objection of counsel include Exhibits 12-D, 13-D, 14-D, 15-D, 16-D, 110-D, 111-D, 112-D, 113-D, 114-D, 115-D, 125-D, 126-D, 127-D and 129-D (test report numbers 2779, 2746 and 4975) and 130-D (test report numbers 75-2833 and 75-3670). The Transcript shows the following relative to Exhibits 13 through 16:

MR. BLONQUIST: Offer 13.

MR. CONDIE: Your Honor, I would object to this. This is approximately six months from the time the feed was purchased by the defendant and is from a branch other than Spanish Fork; totally irrelevant and I don't know for what purpose it could be admissible consistent with the pleadings in this case.

MR. BLONQUIST: Briefly that there was notice given and no move upon the part of Intermountain Farmers to--I think this ties into the punitive element.

THE COURT: This is some substantial time after the period of time that we are concerned with in this case. (Tr. 271; Ab. 12)

* * *

MR. BLONQUIST: We would offer 14.

MR. CONDIE: I would object on the same grounds, Your Honor. This covers a period of time after the feed was purchased from the plaintiff and is a test from a branch other than Spanish Fork. (Tr. 272; Ab. 13)

* * *

MR. BLONQUIST: We will offer 15.

MR. CONDIE: Same objection, Your Honor. It covers a period after the time the feed was purchased and from a branch other than Intermountain Farmers Association, [sic] June 11th, 1975. (Tr. 273; Ab. 13)

* * *

MR. BLONQUIST: We would offer 16.

MR. CONDIE: Same objection, Your Honor. (Tr. 274; Ab. 13)

These exhibits and all other exhibits taken subsequent to the time defendant stopped buying plaintiff's feed were offered as solely relating to punitive damages (Tr. 502; Ab. 57), but were admitted into evidence generally over objection of counsel. (Tr. 276; Ab. 13)

Similarly, exhibits taken prior to the time periods during which defendant fed his cows plaintiff's feed were offered solely as related to the punitive damage element, but were admitted over objection of counsel. [Exhibits 4-D, 5-D, 11-D, 89-D, 90-D, 92-D, 94-D, 95-D, 99-D, 100-D, 104-D, 128-D (test report numbers 6263 and 4090), 129-D (test report numbers 9066 and 4804), 130-D (test report numbers 3333, 5204, 5624, 5722, 6722 and 9061) and Exhibit 149-D] For instance, with reference to samples taken in 1970 as set forth in Exhibit 149-D, the transcript reads:

MR. BLONQUIST: We would offer 149 which consists of four pieces of paper; 149 and then number 70-5624, 70-6271, and 70-280.

MR. CONDIE: Your Honor, I would object to their admission on two grounds; They cover a period of time not in question and number two, they cover feed which there is no testimony to support has ever been used by the defendant's cows.

MR. BLONQUIST: If you will recall, Your Honor, this issue was raised to all of the tests for the year 1970; and pursuant to Mr. Condie's objections I withdrew those exhibits. The only ones I seek to show now are just those four which go to the question of whether or not prior to the time Mr. Fitzgerald bought feed from Intermountain Farmers Association they had knowledge that their feed did not comply with the label, and it is for that limited purpose that they are offered. He objected to all of them and I believe that that was a proper objection; we are now going to the issue of knowledge and the fact that they were notified that the guarantee was not met, which I think goes to the essential elements of this case. (Tr. 817; Ab. 126)

Again, the chemical tests relating to these samples were received into evidence generally over objection. (Tr. 818; Ab. 127) This particular exhibit contained the following notation under date of May 4, 1970 from the State Chemist's office: "This label is false and misleading . . . We have encountered a number of these during this year."

Similar discussion was had resulting in ultimate receipt into evidence of other chemical tests which admittedly could not possibly have related to alleged contamination of the feed actually purchased by defendant. (Tr. 502-504; Ab. 57)

Confusion as to the Use and Purpose of Exhibits Which Could Not Show and Were Not Offered to Show that the Feed Purchased and Used by Defendant was Contaminated

The bulk of the chemical tests admitted into evidence related only to Count Eight, punitive damages. All test reports prior and subsequent to the periods in question were offered for the limited purpose of establishing plaintiff's alleged knowledge and notice justifying punitive damages. (Tr. 817; Ab. 126; Tr. 502; Ab. 57) [Exhibits 4-D, 5-D, 11-D, 12-D, 13-D, 14-D, 15-D, 16-D, 89-D, 90-D,

92-D, 94-D, 95-D, 99-D, 100-D, 104-D, 110-D, 111-D, 112-D, 113-D, 114-D, 115-D, 125-D, 126-D, 127-D, 128-D (test report numbers 6263 and 4090), 129-D (test report numbers 9066, 2779, 2746 and 4804), Exhibit 130-D (test report numbers 3333, 5204, 5624, 5722, 6722, 9061, 75-2833 and 75-3670) and Exhibit 149-D

Exhibit 12-D, a sample taken after defendant stopped purchasing feed from IFA, on August 15, 1974, was one such exhibit in the aforesaid category which could not have caused contamination in the actual feed, and could not have been a component ingredient of the actual feed used by defendant. The Court initially admitted Exhibit 12 into evidence without restriction, but at a later point in the trial apparently sustained objection as to its applicability and use for purposes other than punitive damages. The record shows the following:

MR. BLONQUIST: We would offer Exhibit 12.

MR. CONDIE: I would object to the introduction of this exhibit, Your Honor. It covers a time subsequent to the time when the defendant purchased feed from Intermountain Farmers; and is also from a branch which is not Spanish Fork.

THE COURT: 12 is received over that objection. (Tr. 270; Ab. 12)

* * *

MR. BLONQUIST: Referring Your Honor to Exhibit 12-D and it is specifically, the record will show, sampled on August 15th of 1974 which is within the time in question in this case.

MR. CONDIE: Your Honor (this) is one month after they quit using Intermountain Farmers Association feed, and therefore no cow in his dairy could have eaten this particular sample or anything like it. . . .

THE COURT: Yes. Doesn't appear to be within the time that is in question and the objection is sustained.

MR. BLONQUIST: Your Honor, I think in ruling on that the Court also ought to take into consideration the other elements of the case we have talked about earlier; that was the basis upon which the Court allowed the exhibit in at the beginning of this litigation. That was the fact that one of our charges in this case was one of the punitive or exemplary damages. And the notice that was involved certainly goes to that issue and that close in time because with that element of the case, Your Honor, I think would make the document clearly admissible.

I, also I failed to mention that in my argument I would ask the Court to reconsider in considering that ground.

MR. CONDIE: Your Honor, I'll stipulate and it is in the record that that particular document shows what it shows. If that's notice then it is notice. But I don't believe any testimony relative to these percentage questions of a feed which his cows could never have eaten is relevant.

THE COURT: The ruling will stand. (Tr. 710, 711; Ab. 99)

There was confusion as to the use and scope of exhibits other than Exhibit 12-D which were identified, objected to, a ruling reserved, admitted without restriction and later restricted in some particular. [See Exhibit 15-D; Tr. 704, 711; Ab. 98, 99; and Exhibit 129-D (test report number 9068); Tr. 900; Ab. 209.]

Against this background and confusion as to the limitations suggested in the presence of the jury, the court recognized the need for some curative instruction so as to give guidance to the jury in its deliberations. Many exhibits had been admitted and discussed before the jury for the sole purpose of showing alleged punitive damages. Without identifying the exhibits in question, the court gave the following instruction to the jury:

You are instructed that certain exhibits hereinafter enumerated have been offered and admitted into evidence by the court as bearing upon the question of notice to the plaintiff of a deficiency in its feed. You are instructed that said exhibits

should not be considered for any other purpose or as bearing upon any other issue and do not constitute proof of any other claim made by the counterclaimant in this case. (Instruction No. 20, R. 121)

Although the instruction was given as aforesaid, in fact there was no enumeration as to the exhibits referred to in the instruction. The jury was left without any guidance or instruction as to which exhibits were so restricted. Nevertheless all exhibits were taken into the jury room without notation or indication as to which were so restricted or limited.

Jury was Permitted to Regard any Evidence of "Misbranding" or "Adulteration" of Feed as Constituting Negligence Per Se

The Court gave the following instructions, which were strenuously objected to:

Section 4-18-18 of the Utah Code Annotated (1953) states as follows:

Misbranded feed. -- No person shall distribute misbranded feed. A commercial feed shall be deemed to be misbranded: If its labeling is false or misleading in any particular.

If you find from a preponderance of the evidence that plaintiff misbranded its feed sold to the defendant in violation of the statute just read to you, which is proposed for the safety of defendant and others who own dairy cows, such conduct constituted negligence as a matter of law. (Instruction No. 16, R. 117) [Emphasis added.]

* * *

Section 4-18-17 of the Utah Code Annotated (1953) reads as follows:

Adulterated feed. -- No person shall distribute an adulterated feed. A commercial feed or custom mix feed shall be deemed to be adulterated:

1. If any poisonous, deleterious or non-nutritive ingredient has been added in sufficient amount to render it injurious to health when fed in accordance with directions for use on the label.

2. If any valuable constituent has been in whole or part omitted or abstracted therefrom or any less valuable substance substituted therefor.

3. If its composition of quality falls below or differs from that which it is purported or is represented to possess by its labeling.

4. If it contains added hulls, screenings, straw, cobs, or other high fiber material unless the name of each such material is stated on the label.

If you find from a preponderance of the evidence that the plaintiff manufactured and sold feed to the defendant in violation of the statute just read to you, which is proposed for the safety of defendant and others who own dairy cows, such conduct constitutes negligence as a matter of law. (Instruction No. 17, R. 118) [Emphasis added.]

There was no curative or other instruction to indicate that any evidence whatsoever, other than some evidence of misbranding or adulteration, would be necessary in order for the jury to determine the existence of negligence. Nor were the above instructions limited to consideration of defendant's Count VIII regarding punitive damages which is the only Count raising the issue of alleged misbranding of feed by plaintiff.

Evidence of Possible Causes of the Alleged Injuries Suffered by Defendant Other than Contaminated Feed

Evidence was presented by several witnesses that reduction in milk production, bloat and other problems complained of by defendant are most generally caused by the milker and milking equipment, feeding alfalfa, legumes or clover, inconsistencies

in feeding and milking procedures , seasonal changes and weather conditions , changing the location of the herd , introducing new cows into the herd , communicable disease among the herd , and a variety of such other common place reasons . Additional evidence was presented that general poor health conditions of a herd results in low milk production .

According to defendant's own witness , Dr. Gardner , the chief causes of losses in milk production would include the following:

DR. GARDNER: Weather conditions such as seasonal changes , communicable diseases in the herd , serious malfunction of the milking equipment so it's injurious to the cows and affects their milk production . It's things -- changes of milkers -- milkers who don't completely remove the milk from the cow . If a major change in the feeding system so that you say delete grain from the ration -- semi starve the animal it has a very significant effect in depressing milk production or any poisonous or toxic factor that might be in the feed . (Tr. 788; Ab. 106)

Defendant's witness and veterinarian , Dr. Roper , also testified that there were a number of reasons for milk production fluctuation including inadequate feedings , insufficient milkings , the cows' hooves being sore , a dog chasing the cows all night , the cows being in heat or menstruating , the cows contracting pneumonia or a hardware disease , and innumerable other reasons . (Tr. 269 , 570; Ab. 65)

One of the defendant's milkers , Mr. Ed Aragon , testified that consistent feeding and milking programs are important in maintaining milk production , as is a consistent personal relationship between the milkers and the cows . Mr. Aragon readily admitted that milkers were usually to blame for milk production fluctuation stating:

MR. ARAGON: If you can't keep your production up on your cows your employer -- you can't remain with him. He can't keep you because in my experience with milkers and cows, about 90 percent milk production is a milker, the man that pulls the milk out of the cow is 90 percent of it as far as I can see. (Tr. 585; Ab. 68)

During the time period in question, Mr. Fitzgerald had employed several different milkers, including Mr. Aragon (Tr. 583; Ab. 63; Tr. 594; Ab. 69), Mr. Dallas Schrimmer, who had "very little experience as a milker" (Tr. 641; Ab. 81) and Mr. Harvey Cook. (Tr. 679; Ab. 89) At times when the herd was still located in American Fork, Mr. Fitzgerald and his wife also milked the cows. (Tr. 583; Ab. 63) In addition to the changes in milkers, defendant's herd of 80 cows was moved from American Fork to Elberta where new cows were introduced into defendant's herd until it numbered approximately 300 cows. Defendant then changed the milking program from twice a day milking to three time milking, and, correspondingly, defendant's feeding program was adjusted so that the cows' consumption of grain and hay would be markedly increased. Testimony was received that all such changes in the daily routine of a dairy herd could cause fluctuations in its milk production.

With respect to the general causes of bloat problems, Dr. Huber testified that:

. . . the most common cause of bloat is a legume-type bloat; and this bloat results from consumption of alfalfa primarily; could be in the pasture, green chop or hay form. Generally in the green chop will tend toward more bloat than the dry hay but it has been reported on a number of occasions where certain alfalfa from that are in the dry hay form and will cause bloat. (Tr. 884; Ab. 204)

During the times of purchase and use of plaintiff's 14% dairy feed, defendant also fed his cows as much as 45 pounds of alfalfa per day. Further, he admitted that he had had a severe bloat problem in June 1972 which he attributed to the green chopped alfalfa he had been feeding to his cows. (Tr. 1020; Ab. 141) In addition to the alfalfa, defendant fed his cows corn silage during the relevant times of purchase of 14% dairy feed.

Relative to general poor health conditions of a herd as resulting in milk production loss, the testimony of Curtis Solomon and Ed Aragon revealed that the defendant's cows had rough, straggley coats and dull, droopy eyes which is a symptom of infection in cows. Defendant's cows were unresponsive, hard to handle and listless, had evidence of mucus in their droppings and were "in a general poor health condition." (Tr. 426; Ab. 40) Defendant also testified that his cows suffered from udder problems, mastitis, trychosis, pneumonia and other things, in addition to the problems with bloat that he is claiming losses for. (Tr. 1145; Ab. 184)

Attempted Negation of Possible Causes of Alleged Damage to Defendant's Herd -- Other than Contaminated Feed

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