1977

# Intermountain Farmers Association v. Jim Fitzgerald : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

The Utah Supreme Court rendered a decision in the case of Fowler v. Medical Arts Building, 112 Utah 367, 188 P.2d 711 (1948), that is decisive on the question. In this case a small boy was killed in an accident on an elevator of the Medical Arts Building. A jury awarded plaintiff a substantial verdict and the defendant appealed. At trial the mother of the deceased boy testified that when they got on the elevator it started with a jerk causing the small boy to lose his balance, fall, get caught in the elevator shaft and die. The plaintiff called two witnesses who each testified about riding on the elevator on which the small boy was killed within a week prior to the accident and that on such occasions the elevator, being operated by an employee of defendant, stopped and started with a jerk.

The defendant argued on appeal that testimony of these two witnesses was not admissible evidence and that the receipt thereof was reversible error. Defendant cited cases to the effect that evidence of negligence on one occasion may not be proven by showing similar acts of negligence on previous occasions. In ruling that no error was committed by the trial court, the Supreme Court wrote:

...One of plaintiff's witnesses testified of an incident within a week of the accident and the other testified of an incident which occurred on the Tuesday prior to the accident which occurred on Friday. Defendant's evidence showed that no repairs had been made in the meantime.... The fact that it started with a jerk on these previous occasions and that no repairs were made



in the meantime, increases the probability that it so started at the time of this accident... This evidence was clearly admissible to show that the corporate defendant had knowledge through its employees, the operators of the elevators on those prior occasions, that the elevator was out of repair (p. 713).

A similar factual situation exists in the case before this Court.

A. Plaintiff's employees knew that inconsistent protein in dairy feed was harmful to dairy animals (A. 78).

B. Plaintiff's employees knew that feed for dairy cows should not contain diethylstilbestrol (Ab. 39).

C. Plaintiff received reports of analysis from the Utah State Chemist (Ab. 126).

D. Reports received by plaintiff prior to the first time defendant used plaintiff's 14% dairy feed showed that the 32% cattle supplement pellets used at the Spanish Fork plant as an ingredient in 14% dairy feed contained diethylstilbestrol. Exhibit 14(No. 70-7280).

E. Reports received by plaintiff prior to the first time defendant used plaintiff's 14% dairy feed showed that plaintiff's feed contained inconsistent protein and excess urea. Exhibit 149(No. 70-5204), 149(No. 70-6721), 149(No. 70-7280).

F. No changes were made by plaintiff to improve the consistency of its feed (Ab. 74).

Defendant's evidence clearly shows that prior to the use by defendant of plaintiff's 14% dairy feed, plain-

tiff had knowledge that its feed was harmful yet no quality controls were thereafter implemented by plaintiff. This evidence increases the probability that plaintiff's feed contained diethylstilbestrol and excess urea and was inconsistent in protein during periods of use by defendant. On this basis, reports of analysis on samples taken prior to February of 1971 were clearly admissible.

Reports on both 32% cattle supplement pellets and 32% dairy concentrate pellets were properly admitted into evidence because testimony was produced to show that in mixing 14% dairy feed plaintiff's Spanish Fork plant used 32% dairy concentrate pellets when it ran short of 32% beef cattle supplement pellets (Ab. 44).

The record clearly indicates the consistency of the rulings by the trial court. While reports of analysis were received in evidence for all periods, the court refused to allow defendant's expert, Dr. Robert Gardner, to give an opinion as to the toxic effects of the urea content or the effect on defendant's dairy animals of feed containing inconsistent amounts of protein unless the report of analysis showed a feed sampling date during periods of use by defendant of plaintiff's 14% dairy feed (Tr. 710 and 711).

As an example, the trial court would not allow Dr. Gardner to testify relative to the toxic effects of the 14% dairy feed tested by the State Chemist on August 15, 1974, (Exhibit 12) because defendant ceased buying feed from

plaintiff in July of 1974 (Tr. 710 and 711).

No confusion existed by allowing these exhibits in evidence because each exhibit clearly showed the date the sample was taken. This allowed jurors to easily ascertain whether that sample was taken during a period of use by defendant of plaintiff's 14% dairy feed. The reports clearly identify the feed or supplement tested and show from which plant the sample was taken. Each report bears the date it was issued by the Utah State Chemist.

POINT VIII. NO PREJUDICIAL ERROR WAS MADE IN THE INSTRUCTIONS TO THE JURY

The definitions of misbranded and adulterated feed were given to the jury by instructions 16 and 17, respectively, and the jurors were instructed that if they found plaintiff misbranded feed sold to defendant or manufactured and sold to defendant adulterated feed, this conduct constituted negligence as a matter of law (R. 117 and 118).

These instructions were properly given because evidence was presented upon which the jury could find that misbranded and adulterated feed had been sold by plaintiff to defendant. As to misbranded feed, Exhibit 79 shows that the label on the 32% pellet distributed by plaintiff in June of 1974 was false and misleading because the pellet contained only 24% protein (Ab. 48). Exhibits 130(No. 71-558), 130(No. 71-1415), 130(No. 71-9460) and 109 show that during periods of use by defendant plaintiff's feed was deficient

in protein; Exhibits 4, 130(No. 75-4584), 130(No. 71-9067), 128(No. 72-7090), 116, 105 and 123 show that 32% dairy concentrate pellets contained excessive protein. In addition, Exhibits 130(No. 71-9876), 130(No. 71-9067), 128(No. 72-4090) and 116 show that during use by defendant, plaintiff's feed contained excess urea.

As to adulterated feed, Exhibits 5, 6, 7, 87, 88 and 90 show that during the first period of use by defendant of plaintiff's 14% dairy feed, 32% cattle supplement contained diethylstilbestrol. Mr. Loveless, plant manager at Spanish Fork, testified that he had no explanation as to how diethylstilbestrol got into the 32% pellet (Ab. 39).

Instructions 16 and 17 were given without curative language as to justification or excuse. This did not constitute prejudicial error because no evidence was presented by plaintiff to show justification or excuse. Plaintiff's whole defense was that it did nothing wrong.

At trial plaintiff took exception to instructions 16 and 17. The exception to instruction 16 was based upon a failure to distinguish periods of use and non-use of plaintiff's feed and the exception to instruction 17 was that the statute cited was not applicable to a civil case. The objections to instruction 16 and 17 set forth in plaintiff's brief were not raised at trial.

Instruction 20 very clearly explained to the jury that certain exhibits were offered and admitted into evidence as bearing upon the question of notice to the plain-

tiff as to deficiency in its feed and the jurors were instructed that said exhibits should not be considered for any other purpose or as bearing upon any other issue (R 121).

Not only was the giving of instruction 20 not prejudicial error by the trial court, plaintiff's objection thereto on appeal is untimely. Plaintiff did not take exception to jury instruction 20 at trial (Ab. 221); therefore, the content of said instruction cannot now be raised as prejudicial error.

As to instructions 16, 17 and 20, it is clear under Utah law that an assignment of error cannot be raised in the first instance on appeal. This principle was set forth in Cordner v. Clinger's, Inc., 15 Utah 2d 85, 387 P. 2d 685 (1963), where the Court held that a party cannot raise objections to instructions for the first time on appeal.

POINT IX. IT WAS NOT IMPROPER FOR DEFENDANT TO READ FROM SUMMARIES

During the course of the trial more than 140 exhibits were introduced in evidence by defendant in support of his counterclaim. Most of these exhibits consist of many pages. Exhibit 19 comprises over 300 individual cow records. Exhibits 17 through 54 each comprise five worksheets showing the test day, test run and results, a one-sheet computer print-out known as the Herd Summary and a three-page computer print-

out entitled "Dairy Herd Improvement Records". In addition to these exhibits, defendant brought to the trial a large cardboard box containing milk receipts from Beatrice Foods-Meadow Gold Dairy and a large folder containing his tax returns.

In an effort to shorten the presentation of evidence, defendant prepared a summary of the DHIA records and the Beatrice Foods-Meadow Gold Dairy receipts to show milk losses (Exhibit 139); a summary of the DHIA records and defendant's tax records to show his losses as a result of selling his dairy cows for beef (Exhibit 146); a summary of the DHIA records and his barn record to show which cows died and the date and cause of death (Exhibit 138); a summary of DHIA records to show which cows became retarded in milk production (Exhibit 163); a summary of DHIA records and defendant's grain receipts to show wasted grain (Exhibit 162); a graph illustrating the rolling herd average as reported in DHIA records (Exhibit 165); a graph showing pounds of milk produced by month as recorded in DHIA records (Exhibit 166); a graph showing protein content of 32% dairy concentrate pellets by test date and test result as shown on the reports of analysis of the Utah State Chemist (Exhibit 144); a graph showing protein content of 32% cattle supplement by test date and test result as shown in the reports of analysis of

the Utah State Chemist (Exhibit 144); a graph showing protein content of 32% cattle supplement by test date and test result as shown in the reports of analysis of the Utah State Chemist (Exhibit 143); a graph showing urea content of 32% cattle supplement by test date and test result as shown on the reports of analysis of the Utah State Chemist (Exhibit 142); a graph showing protein content of 14% dairy feed by the test date and test result as shown in the reports of analysis of the Utah State Chemist (Exhibit 140); a graph showing urea content of 14% dairy feed by test date and test result as shown in DHIA records (Exhibit 141). Of all of these summaries and graphs only Exhibit 166 was received in evidence. The offer of the other exhibits was refused on the ground that they represented evidence already admitted and constituted merely another way of presenting the same evidence.

Defendant contends that all of the summaries, graphs and charts should have been received in evidence and plaintiff has nothing to complain about by the court allowing defendant to refer to and read from Exhibits 162, 163, 138, 146 and 139.

The Montana Supreme Court in the case of McCollum v. O'Neil, 128 Mont. 584, 281 P.2d 493 (1955), held that when documents are voluminous and made up of very detailed statements, the use of a summary is proper and that no reversible error was committed by the trial court in admitting

the summaries in evidence. The Court went on to say:

This method of getting before the jury the result of the examination of books of account and records is to be commended (p. 497).

This subject is treated in IV Wigmore on Evidence, Third Ed. §1230, p. 434. The rule is stated as follows:

Where a fact could be ascertained only by the inspection of a large number of documents made up of very numerous detailed statements--as, the net balance resulting from a year's vouchers of a treasurer of a year's accounts in a bank ledger--it is obvious that it would often be practically out of the question to apply the present principle by requiring the production of the entire mass of documents and entries to be perused by the jury or read aloud to them. The convenience of trials demands that other evidence be allowed to be offered in the shape of the testimony of a competent witness who has perused the entire mass and will state summarily the net result. Such a practice is well established to be proper.

Most Courts require, as a condition, that the mass thus summarily testified to shall, if the occasion seems to require it, be placed at hand in court, or at least be made accessible to the opposing party, in order that the correctness of the evidence may be tested by inspection if desired, or that the material for cross-examination may be available. (Emphasis added.)

The Utah Supreme Court showed its concurrence with Wigmore and the Montana Supreme Court on this subject in its decision in Sprague v. Boyles Bros. Drilling Co., 4 Utah 2d 344, 294 P.2d 689 (1956). In that case an action was brought by a general contractor against the subcontractor for breach of contract by which the subcontractor agreed to break rocks into proper size for use by the general contractor. On



appeal, the subcontractor claimed that the trial court erred in receiving work sheets containing a compilation and computation of figures and computation of expenses incurred by the general contractor when the subcontractor pulled off the job. In ruling that the trial court did not commit error in overruling the objection and receiving the evidence, the court said:

It has been held, and we believe the ruling to be a salutary and expedient one, that where original book entries, documents or other data are so numerous, complex, or cumbersome that they cannot be conveniently examined by the fact trier, or where it would materially aid the court and the parties in analyzing such material, that a competent person who has made such examination may present such evidence. This is subject to the limitation that the evidence must be shown to be developed from records, books or documents, the competency of which has been established, and the records must be available for examination by the opposing parties and the witness subject to cross-examination concerning such evidence. The evidence here presented conformed to the above requirements. Mrs. Sprague testified to the manner of keeping the books; she explained the exhibits and the underlying data, consisting of payroll records, invoices, vouchers and cancelled checks, all of which were present in court for inspection and she was there for cross-examination with respect to all of such matters. The trial court did not commit error in overruling the objection and receiving the evidence.

In the instant case, defendant was present in court and was cross-examined by counsel for plaintiff. All records referred to were in court and were made available to defendant (Tr. 1051, Ab. 148).

Fully supportive of this position is Rule 70(1)(f)

and (2) of the Utah Rules of Evidence.

Plaintiff has no grounds to complain because defendant referred to and read from the summaries. The summaries themselves were not allowed in evidence and the jurors only took into the jury room those portions of the summaries that they recalled from defendant's testimony. It would have been far better for defendant's case had the summaries been allowed in evidence to be read, considered and used by the jurors in their deliberations as to the amount of defendant's damages.

In addition to the foregoing, the record clearly shows that at trial plaintiff did not object to defendant referring to and reading from the summaries (Tr. 1042 L. 20 through Tr. 1047 L. 13; Tr. 1158 L. 15 through Tr. 1167 L. 7; Tr. 1157 L. 15 through Tr. 1158 L. 14; Tr. 1157 L. 15 through Tr. 1071 L. 9; Tr. 1074 L. 14 through 1076 L. 3; Tr. 1050 L. 14 through Tr. 1053 L. 27).

In its brief, plaintiff refers to an objection made at Tr. 1083, Ab. 157. The record clearly shows that a discussion took place between the trial judge and defendant's counsel. At no time did plaintiff's counsel record an objection.

Assuming arguendo that this evidence was improper (the authorities hereinabove cited clearly show the evidence was properly allowed), it is clear under Utah law that a

verdict or finding shall not be set aside, nor shall the judgment or decision based thereon be reversed, "by reason of the erroneous admission of evidence unless (a) there appears of record objection to the evidence timely interposed and so stated as to make clear the specific ground of objection...." Rule 4. Utah Rules of Evidence.

This court has repeatedly held that when a party does not raise objections below when he had notice and opportunity to object, he may not be heard to complain for the first time on appeal. Huber v. Newman, 106 Utah 363, 145 P.2d 780 (1944).

#### CONCLUSION

In view of the foregoing, it is submitted by defendant that no reversible error was committed by the trial court and that substantial evidence is contained in the record to support the jury verdict in defendant's favor on his counterclaim. For these reasons the jury verdict should be affirmed and the reasonableness of plaintiff's attorney fees should be determined at the trial court level.